IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-893

PATRICK C. HANNON, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave., Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Hannon was charged by indictment on February 13, 1991, with two counts of first degree murder in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County (R. 1672-1674). A superseding indictment was filed on March 27, 1991 charging Mr. Hannon and co-defendant, Ronald Richardson, with the same premeditated murders (R. 1683-1685). By executive order the governor assigned the State Attorney for the Sixth Judicial Circuit to prosecute the case in place of the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit because of a conflict of interest (R. 1678-1680). The change of State Attorney was granted because one of the State's witnesses, who was also the sister of co-defendant James Acker, was employed by the Hillsborough County State Attorney's Office (R. 1046, 1678-80, 1686-87, 1831-1832).

Mr. Hannon's trial began on July 15, 1991. On July 23, 1991, the jury found Mr. Hannon guilty of two counts of firstdegree premeditated murder (R. 1577, 1781-82). The entire penalty phase was held on July 24, 2991 and lasted less than thirty (30) minutes. The jury recommended death sentences for both murder counts (R. 1587-1634, 1783-84, 1792). On August 5, 1991, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Hannon to death for both ocunts of murder (R. 1642, 1806-16).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentences. *Hannon v. State*, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Hannon timely petitioned the United States Supreme Court for writ of certiorari. The petition was denied on February 21, 1995. *Hannon v. Florida*, 115 S. Ct. 1118 (1995).

On March 17, 1997,<sup>1</sup> Mr. Hannon filed his initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion. On April 22, 1997, Mr. Hannon filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Hannon filed his first amended Rule 3.850 motion on April 10, 2000.

On July 3, 2000, the State filed its response. After the circuit court held a *Huff*<sup>2</sup> hearing on July 10, 2000, the court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on claims IV (in part), V (in part), IX, X (in part) and XXI, and summarily denied the remainder of Mr. Hannon's claims. The court held an evidentiary hearing on February 18, 2002 and June 21, 2002. After the hearing, Mr. Hannon and the State filed memoranda (PC-R. 1882-1931, 1933-1989, Supp. PC-R. 355-367). In an order entered on February 3, 2003, the court denied those claims for which an evidentiary hearing hearing had been granted. Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This Court granted Mr. Hannon an extension of time in which to file his initial motion for post conviction relief, ordering that it be filed by April 22, 1997. *Hannon v. State*, No. 78,678 (Fla. April 22, 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

Hannon timely filed a notice of appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# <u>Trial</u>

Brandon Snider and Robbie Carter lived in the Cambridge Woods Apartments (R. 373-74, 377, 398, 1838-39). On January 10, 1991, several neighbors of Snider and Carter heard and saw what they termed as unusual events. Neighbors heard crashing, breaking glass and loud voices around 10:00 p.m. (R. 270-71, 289-290, 316-17). At least one neighbor saw into the apartment and noticed an individual covered with blood (R. 272-73). A downstairs window was broken and covered with blood and an upstairs window was broken and had blood on it (R. 272, 277-78). There also appeared to be blood on the outside of the open apartment door (R. 277, 323-25). Neighbors described three unclean or unkempt men who were leaving the victims' apartment (R. 296-96, 302-3, 307, 349, 344, 348). The police arrived shortly after the three individuals were seen leaving.

Mr. Hannon was arrested on February 6, 1991 (R. 980-81, 989). According to the detective arresting Mr. Hannon, he did not know whay he was being arrested and stated that he was not guilty (R. 993). The State presented several witnesses at trial to testify about statements allegedly made by Mr. Hannon while he was in jail pending trial (R. 866-69; 876-78;

880-87; 889-90; 892-905).

Ron Richardson, Mr. Hannon's co-defendant, was arrested on March 19, 1991 (R. 999, 1014). He was expected to be a defense witness at Mr. Hannon's trial, but initially invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege not to incriminate himself (R. 985-989). Richardson ultimately testified as a witness for the prosecution, after he entered a negotiated plea to one count of accessory after the fact and a sentence of five years in prison in return for his testimony against Mr. Hannon (R. 1139-1218). During his direct examination, Richardson implicated both Mr. Hannon and Jim Acker, a third codefendant. On cross-examination, Richardson acknowledged that he lied to Mr. Hannon's attorney during his statement prior to trial (R. 1193-94). Richardson had told defense counsel that he and Mr. Hannon had nothing to do with the murders (R. 1194). He further told Mr. Hannon's attorney that he and Mr. Hannon played quarters, a drinking game, on the night in question until 10:00 p.m., when Mr. Hannon went to sleep (R. 1194-95).

The State also called Judith Bunker, a forensic consultant in blood stain pattern analysis and crime scene reconstruction. Trial counsel did not cross examine this witness on her supposed expertise, her methodology, and the

bases for her opinion.

At the penalty phase, the State presented no additional evidence. The defense presented Toni Acker, a friend and sister of co-defendant Acker, to testify that she didn't believe Mr. Hannon was capable of murder (R. 1598). Trial counsel also presented Mr. Hannon's mother and father (R. 1599-1600). The trial court found three aggravating circumstances with regard to victim Brandon Snider: 1) previous conviction of another capital felony, 2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of burglary, and 3) the capital felony was heinous, atrocious and cruel (R. 1806). With regard to victim Robbie Carter the court found the same three aggravators and additionally found that the capital murder was committed to avoid arrest (R. 1807-8).

The trial court found only two mitigating circumstances: 1) Mr. Hannon had never been a violent person, had never tried to harm anyone and had never hurt anyone, and 2) the plea agreement between co-defendant Richardson and the State in which his murder charges were reduced to one count of accessory after the fact (R. 1807, 1809). The court rejected defense counsel's argument of residual or lingering doubt as a mitigating circumstance (Id.).

# Post-Conviction

The lower court held an evidentiary hearing on February 18, 2002 and July 21, 2002. Mr. Hannon called numerous witnesses including Mr. Hannon's trial attorney and several mental health witnesses in support of his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of his trial.

At the time he represented Mr. Hannon, trial counsel Joe Episcopo had been a prosecutor for six years in Pinellas and Hillsborough counties. Mr. Hannon's case was his <u>first</u> as a defense attorney and his <u>first</u> capital case that went to penalty phase (PC-R. 2696). Mr. Episcopo was unfamiliar with the law and the obligations of defending a capital defendant. Mr. Episcopo said he was retained by the Hannon family in 1991 to represent Patrick Hannon. He said he went to jail to speak with him and spoke to his parents in New York. He said everyone he spoke with was adamant that his client was not guilty (PC-R. 2698).

Mr. Episcopo said he had the assistance of Norman Zamboni, a young man who was waiting to go into active duty with Army JAG corp. His role was limited to going to the crime scene and interviewing witnesses. He was not involved in making trial decisions (PC-R. 2699). Mr. Episcopo testified

that he did not hire an investigator in this case (PC-R. 2700), but identified a bill for \$250.00 to Brown Investigations for 6.3 hours of work. He then recalled the investigator was hired for the limited purpose of interviewing jailhouse snitches (See, Defense Exhibits 1,2). No other investigator was involved because Mr. Episcopo said he and Mr. Zamboni did the investigation themselves. He said he did not authorize any investigation into Ronald Richardson and did not recall if he obtained a criminal history on him (PC-R. 2702).

Mr. Episcopo said he did not investigate Ron Richardson's relationship with Mr. Hannon; his influence on Mr. Hannon or any accusations that he made against his girlfriend, Michelle Helm (PC-R. 2704). He also did not investigate his brother, Mike Richardson (PC-R. 2708). Mr. Episcopo testified that Mr. Richardson was "part of our alibi." When Mr. Richardson made a deal with the state midway through the trial, Mr. Episcopo did not change his defense accordingly. His theory was to continue rather than give Mr. Richardson time to refresh his memory. Mr. Episcopo's strategy was not to depose Mr. Richardson, which would have given him time to finalize his story (PC-R. 2708-9).

Even after Richardson became a state witness, Mr. Episcopo remained on the path that he took, despite evidence

to the contrary. He said he did not want to impeach Ron Richardson because he did not want to ruin his alibi defense. He did not question him extensively about the murders because it was "inconsistent with our defense." "And my goodness, you know, we're not going to change our defense as we start our case. I mean might as well send the guy right to the chair on that one." (PC-R. 2710). When asked if he was aware of Mr. Richardson's drug history, he did not recall, but he said he knew about Mr. Richardson's prior conviction for armed robbery, but "I don't recall anything serious about it." (PC-R. 2713). Mr. Episcopo knew that Mr. Richardson had initially passed a lie detector test, but then turned state's evidence, which meant that his polygraph was wrong. When asked if he made any effort to use the polygraph information at Mr. Hannon's penalty phase, he said he did not (PC-R. 2715).

Judith Bunker was the State's expert who testified to blood spatter at the crime scene. Mr. Episcopo said he did not question her credentials, although he did object to the pictures she identified because "I didn't want to give the jury the impression that we were impeaching a witness that was not relevant to our defense" (PC-R. 2716). According to Mr. Episcopo, questioning State witness Bunker "had nothing to do

with our alibi." (Id.). When asked if he deposed her before trial, he said he did not remember, but then added, it "didn't matter" (PC-R. 2717).

Mr. Episcopo testified that he knew who Ms. Bunker was before trial because she had been a prosecution witness in Pinellas County and he knew prosecutors who were "very, very high on her and used her a lot." (Id.). When asked if Ms. Bunker confirmed the testimony of Ron Richardson and the aggravating factors advanced by the State, Mr. Episcopo responded:

> ...You've got to understand our defense was alibi. You know, when you're doing that, you've got to stick to that defense. You can't change that. You've got to hold to it. You've got to fight the case and keep fighting it as you fight it. And that's the way we did it.

(PC-R. 2720). Because Mr. Episcopo thought Ms. Bunker's testimony was "irrelevant" (PC-R. 2722), he did not depose her, question her credentials, or attack her testimony in anyway. He was unaware that Ms. Bunker was a fraud, had not even graduated from high school (PC-R. 2724); and had been a secretary throughout most of her career at the Orlando Medical Examiner's office (PC-R. 2725). He did not obtain her personnel file and never learned that she had no higher education (Id.). He failed to learn that she did not lecture

at the places she purported to lecture at and had not been employed at the places listed on her resume (PC-R. 2726-27).

Mr. Episcopo failed to investigate anything about Ms. Bunker because he said, while it would have made him look sharp, it did nothing to advance his defense (PC-R. 2729). Later on in his testimony, Mr. Episcopo said he knew that Ms. Bunker was used in aggravation to argue that the crimes were heinous, atrocious and cruel. He said that is why he objected so strenuously to the photographs that were introduced during her testimony (PC-R. 2807).

Mr. Episcopo also said he failed to question the credentials or background of FBI Agent Michael Malone (PC-R. 2732). Although he was a state witness, Mr. Episcopo felt he was really a defense witness. He thought Malone was a good expert because he was from the FBI, which is "very impressive to the jury. That he had done lots of cases. That he had this expertise" (Id.). Mr. Episcopo said he did not look into the credentials of Mr. Malone. He said he was not familiar with a 1986 case from the Second District Court of Appeals that found Mr. Malone to be less than credible (PC-R. 2733). Mr. Episcopo testified that he had not requested or received the full and complete FBI file on Mr. Hannon's case and was unsure if he received bench notes from Mr. Malone (PC-R.

2735). "I probably had some of it. I don't know if I had it all"<sup>3</sup> (PC-R. 2736).

As for penalty phase preparation, Mr. Episcopo said he planned to establish that Mr. Hannon did not have the type of character to be involved in these crimes (PC-R. 2747). He said he had discussions with Mr. Zamboni, Mr. Hannon, his parents and his sister about what he planned to present. However, his discussions with Mr. Hannon were at the jail. His discussions with Mr. and Mrs. Hannon were at the trial during breaks. And, his discussion with Maureen Hannon was outside the courtroom when she was called as a defense witness at the guilt phase (PC-R. 2748).

He said his view of the penalty phase "depends on the case" (PC-R. 2749), but in Mr. Hannon's case, its purpose "was to try to save his life so that we could find the killers." He explained:

And we had decided that this was the position we were going to take. And then in the event that he was convicted, if we were to change that, if we were now to get up there and say I was there. I'm sorry. I didn't do it or any of that kind of stuff, which I felt in those cases I prosecuted, I often felt those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>After Mr. Episcopo testified that he did not have the complete FBI file, counsel sought to orally amend the Rule 3.850 motion with a <u>Brady v. Maryland</u> claim, arguing that it was <u>Brady</u> material not given to the defense. This Court denied the motion (PC-R. 2738-42).

defense attorneys didn't handle that phase right. You know, they find somebody's convicted. Now they completely change their defense and get up there and take another tactic. We decided that wasn't what it was going to be because Mr. Hannon was adamant. I can't tell you how much he was adamant that he wasn't there. He didn't do this. He would never do this.

(PC-R. 2748-49).

When he was asked if he investigated Mr. Hannon's background, he said he knew all about his background. He knew he had a minor criminal background, which the State did not use to impeach him. (PC-R. 2749-50). He knew that Mr. Hannon had prior convictions of cocaine, burglary and grand theft. He knew about Mr. Hannon carrying a concealed weapon (PC-R. 2750). When asked if he investigated any of Mr. Hannon's drug use, his response was "No. Of course not. It had nothing to do with our defense" (Id.). When asked if he investigated Mr. Hannon's background in New York, he responded by saying that he spoke to his parents, and "they were firm that their boy could never do something like this" (PC-R. 2751). Mr. Episcopo testified that he did not obtain any of Mr. Hannon's school, military or medical records (Id.).

In order to keep a consistent defense of innocence, Mr. Episcopo said he called Toni Acker to the stand. She had testified for the State at the guilt phase. At penalty phase, she testified that Mr. Hannon was not the type of person to

commit this type of crime (PC-R. 2747, 2752). He also called Mr. Hannon's parents to the stand. Mr. Episcopo explained:

And I believe we called Tony Acker back and again reiterated their belief that he couldn't do this. Not only didn't do it, he couldn't do it. So the thought was maybe they'll have a doubt now. Because here's a guy who - should he be begging for his life? Well, he's not. He's still saying he didn't do it. I thought it was a good idea.

(PC-R. 2752-53).

Mr. Episcopo could not explain why the jury would reject this information in the guilt phase and then suddenly believe it in the penalty phase. Mr. Episcopo said he argued lingering doubt, which he described as the "catch all." (PC-R. 2756). He said he did not consult with any attorneys experienced in death penalty litigation about what he was doing because he "didn't have a lot of confidence" in them (Id.).

He did not attend any defense-oriented seminars on how to conduct a death penalty case. He said he had a lot of practical experience as a prosecutor (PC-R. 2757). It never occurred to Mr. Episcopo that defending a capital client was any different from prosecuting one. Mr. Episcopo said he never heard of Life Over Death, the seminar for death penalty lawyers. He was unfamiliar and never consulted the American

Bar Association guidelines on how to conduct a death penalty case (PC-R. 2770). He was not familiar with Ake v. Oklahoma (PC-R. 2806). Mr. Episcopo specifically stated:

"I don't care what the ....American Bar Association says. I don't care what anybody says. This is a decision I made. I'm the guy that makes those decisions. Not the life and death course."

(PC-R. 2784).

Mr. Episcopo said he did not investigate Mr. Hannon's mental state or possible brain damage because he had no indication of that (PC-R. 2757). He said he spent lots of time talking with Mr. Hannon and his family and "I can determine whether somebody's whacked" (Id.). On cross examination, Mr. Episcopo said he had no reason to believe that Mr. Hannon was incompetent to stand trial or was insane (PC-R. 2775-76).<sup>4</sup> Mr. Episcopo said he questioned Mr. Hannon's parents in the hallway during trial about problems he may have had, and found no basis to do it. "And, why would I do that anyway? We're going to get up there and say he's crazy and therefore, he shouldn't be killed? He wasn't crazy."(PC-R. 2758-59). Mr. Episcopo said he did not believe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>It was obvious that Mr. Episcopo failed to understand the difference between competency to stand trial, insanity and having brain damage that impacts on one's ability to make rational decisions.

that Mr. Hannon had "a mental problem....I think I know it when I see it." (PC-R. 2759).

Likewise, Mr. Episcopo did not investigate Mr. Hannon's drug history, which he described as "standard run of the mill" (PC-R. 2760). Because he was unfamiliar with Ake v. Oklahoma, he did not have Mr. Hannon evaluated for any mental health issues before trial. He had no one evaluate Mr. Hannon for mitigation issues at all (Id.).

Mr. Episcopo's preparation of Mr. and Mrs. Hannon for their testimony at the penalty phase was to say, "get up there and - and remember this is our defense and basically you've just got to look at the jury and tell them what you feel from your heart. That was it" (Id.). He said the preparation did not require more than that "because they had told me he didn't do it. That was our mitigation" (Id.).

Mr. Episcopo said he did not question Mr. Hannon's parents in the hallway during trial about his background because "I had no indication that it was bad" (PC-R. 2761). He didn't ask about his drug problems because he "didn't see it as relevant" (Id.). He had no indication that Mr. Hannon had been neglected.

When asked if Mr. Hannon had cocaine problems before trial, he adamantly said, "He didn't have a cocaine problem"

(PC-R. 2765). He said he wasn't told by Mr. Hannon that he had had a drinking problem (PC-R. 2766). Mr. Episcopo testified that he did not know that his client began using drugs and alcohol at age 11; that he had a history of using LSD, crystal methamphetamine, hallucinogenic mushrooms, crack cocaine, and that he was paranoid when on drugs (PC-R. 2767). He said he was never told about those drugs and "it didn't come up because it wasn't an issue....We weren't exploring those things" (Id.).

Mr. Episcopo confirmed that he "expected this case to go back to trial. I expected that someone could come forward or there'd be a confession in jail just like you read about all the time. It happens all the time. I said this is going to happen in this case and we've preserved his ability to go to trial again" (PC-R. 2786-87). Even after he decided to put on a mitigation case, he still failed to investigate any of Mr. Hannon's background. "So what are we going to do a background investigation for? What's the point?" he asked (PC-R. 2805).

Dr. Faye Sultan, a clinical psychologist, testified that she spent 14 hours interviewing and evaluating Mr. Hannon. She gave him an IQ test that showed him to be scattered (PC-R. 3007-8). She said she hoped to gain understanding of how Mr.

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