IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICK C. HANNON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-893 Lower Tribunal No. 91-1927

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013

Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue 1 - Ineffective Assistance / Guilt Phase

The trial court entered two comprehensive written orders in this case. The first order, which summarily denied

postcoviction relief, in part, was 102 pages in length, and included extensive excerpts from the trial record. (PCR6/1073-1174). Following the evidentiary hearing, the trial court's entered a 46-page written order, with additional findings of fact and conclusions of law. (PCR10/1998-2043). The trial court reviewed the trial record, evaluated the evidence presented at the postconviction hearings, and applied the correct legal standards to the defendant's postconviction claims. The defendant failed to establish any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. The trial court's underlying factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, and preclude relief on this claim.

Issue 2 - Ineffective Assistance / Penalty Phase

After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the trial court properly denied the defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. The defendant has failed to prove any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice arising from trial counsel's strategic decision to rely on the defendant's character and to maintain a consistent theory of innocence "adamantly" asserted by the defendant. Furthermore, balanced against the insignificant evidence of mitigation now being urged, there is no reasonable probability that, absent the alleged errors, the sentencer would have concluded that the

mitigating circumstances now offered outweighed the multiple and substantial aggravating circumstances in this case.

<u>Issue 3 - Claims Summarily Denied</u>

The record conclusively establishes that the defendant was not entitled to relief on any of his remaining postconviction allegations; therefore, the trial court properly summarily denied postconviction relief.

<u>Issues 4 and 5 - Avoid Arrest Aggravator and HAC Aggravator</u>

The defendant's challenges to the aggravating factors are procedurally barred and without merit. These claims have been consistently rejected by this Court.

<u>Issue 6 - Innocence of the Death Penalty</u>

Summary denial was appropriate because the defendant failed to "show constitutional error invalidating all of the aggravating circumstances upon which the sentence was based."

<u>Issue 7 - The Ring</u> Claim

The defendant's <u>Ring</u> claim is procedurally barred and without merit. The jury unanimously recommended the death penalty in each case and Hannon's aggravating factors exempt this case from any possible application of <u>Ring</u>. Finally, <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive.

<u>Issue 8 - Cumulative Error</u>

The defendant failed to demonstrate any individual error in his postconviction relief claims, therefore, his cumulative error claim must be denied.

SUMMARY OF THE DEFENDANT'S CRIMES

Before going to Brandon Snider's apartment with Ron Richardson and Jim Acker on the night of January 10, 1991, the defendant, Patrick Hannon, first armed himself with a loaded handgun, which he concealed from view. When the trio entered the victims' townhouse, Jim Acker repeatedly stabbed Snider, until Snider's "guts" were "hanging out." As Snider called for help, Hannon instead grabbed Snider from behind and slit Snider's throat from ear to ear. (R289-290). Hannon, who was 26 years old, 6'3" tall and weighed approximately 300 pounds, used two lethal weapons that night: a buck knife and a loaded, semi-automatic .380 caliber handgun.

Hannon then chased after his second victim, eyewitness Robbie Carter, as Carter fled upstairs. (R1181-1183; 894-897). Hannon fired his gun as Carter ran up the stairs. (R1185; 1366-1367). When Hannon discovered Carter hiding beneath a bed, Hannon placed the gun against Carter's left side and Hannon fired the gun directly into Carter's torso. As Carter lay trapped beneath the bed after Hannon fired the first shot into

Carter's left side,

```
Hannon shot Carter again,
. . . and Hannon shot Carter again.
```

The six gunshots extended in a straight line down from Carter's left armpit. Each shot was lethal. (R501-502; 511-512; 898-899). Hannon admitted to Ron Richardson that he'd shot Robbie Carter and cut Brandon Snider's throat, which was "just like taking a pig's head off." (R1191-1192).

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are evaluated under the now familiar two-part test announced some twenty years ago by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984):

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Id. at 687.

Review of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are mixed questions of fact and law subject to *de novo* review.

Patton v. State, 878 So. 2d 368, 372-373 (Fla. 2004), citing Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917, 923 (Fla. 2001). The "trial court's legal conclusions are subject to independent review by this Court, but the factual findings must be given deference.

. . In recognizing the trial court's superior vantage point at the evidentiary hearing, this Court will not substitute its judgment for the trial court's judgment on questions of fact, credibility of the witnesses, and weight of the evidence . . .

The factual findings must demonstrate both that counsel was deficient in performance and that the defendant was prejudiced."

Id. at 373.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ON THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE GUILT PHASE

In his first issue, the defendant, Patrick Hannon, contends that the trial court erred in denying postconviction relief on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of his 1991 trial. On appeal, Hannon reasserts the claims he presented below: that trial counsel allegedly was ineffective in failing to (1) present a voluntary intoxication defense, (2) investigate the background of Judith Bunker, the State's blood spatter expert, (3) adequately "prepare for trial," (4) depose Ron Richardson or request a continuance when Richardson agreed to testify, and (5) question Michele Helm, Ron Richardson's exgirlfriend, about Richardson's alleged jealousy.

Patrick Hannon was represented at trial by attorney Joe Episcopo, an experienced criminal trial attorney who previously had prosecuted capital cases throughout both the guilt and penalty phases of trial. Attorney Episcopo personally interviewed witnesses prior to trial, consulted with Hannon on numerous occasions, spoke with members of Hannon's family, associated with a second attorney, called seventeen (17) defense witnesses during the guilt phase alone, vigorously cross-

examined the State's material witnesses, and steadfastly asserted an actual innocence/alibi defense at trial, in accordance with his client's unwavering declarations. Before his trial, at trial, and during the years following his trial, Hannon never wavered in his emphatic claims of innocence to attorney Episcopo.² For the following reasons, the defendant's multiple allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel during the guilt phase were properly denied by the trial court.

Voluntary Intoxication

At trial, Patrick Hannon testified on his own behalf. Among

²At trial in 1991, Hannon testified that he was not at the victims' apartment on the night of the crimes and that he had nothing to do with their deaths. The postconviction hearings in this case were held on two separate dates, February 18, 2002 and June 21, 2002. During the first hearing, Attorney Episcopo testified that Hannon continued to communicate with him for years after the trial, and Hannon always maintained his claim of innocence. In 1991, Hannon's parents also "continued to believe their son did not and could not do this." And, as attorney Episcopo testified in 2002, "I have never heard back from them any other way." (PCR11/2170).

However, during the evidentiary hearing held on June 21, 2002, one of the defendant's current expert witnesses, Dr. Lipman, testified that although Hannon previously had testified at trial that he was not at the victims' apartment on the night of the murders, Hannon since has admitted to Dr. Lipman that he, in fact, was there. (PCR13/2519-2522). According to Hannon's latest statements to Dr. Lipman, although Hannon now admits being present at the victims' apartment on the night of the murders, Hannon claims that he didn't do any of the killings. (PCR13/2519-2522). Thus, more than ten years after he vehemently denied being at the scene, Hannon now admits his presence at the victims' apartment, and simply reverses the respective roles of Hannon and Richardson.

other things, Hannon described, in fact-specific detail, his whereabouts and actions in January of 1991; and, although Hannon admitted that he had been drinking on the night of the crimes, January 10, 1991, Hannon testified that he stayed at Richardson's home that night and had nothing to do with the murders.

Hannon's postconviction counsel now urges this Court to conclude that trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting a voluntary intoxication defense in 1991. However, the defense of voluntary intoxication was not a viable option in this case because, in 1991, (1) Hannon consistently denied even being present at the victims' apartment on the night of the murders, (2) Hannon emphatically denied any involvement at all in the victims' deaths, and (3) Hannon testified on his own behalf at trial and he provided a fact-specific recollection of events and steadfastly proclaimed his innocence - all of which negated the credible use of a voluntary intoxication defense. See, Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 485 (Fla. 1998) (reasoning that since a voluntary intoxication defense is, in effect, an admission that you did the crime but lacked the specific intent to be held criminally responsible, a defendant's unwavering professions of innocence short-circuited any credible voluntary intoxication defense during the guilt phase), citing Remeta v. Dugger, 622

So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1993) (approving trial counsel's tactical decision to forego a voluntary intoxication defense which was inconsistent with defendant's theory that accomplice was the main perpetrator and triggerman).

In addressing the failure to rely on a voluntary intoxication defense, the trial court found that Hannon failed to demonstrate any deficiency of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>. In summarily denying postconviction relief on Hannon's initial guilt phase claim, the trial court concluded that Hannon was not entitled to any relief because,

As to the quilt phase, Defendant testified on his own behalf without raising any mental defense of any kind, but consistently maintained his innocence. (See Trial Transcript, Volume XII, pages 1366-1402, attached). Moreover, "trial counsel's failure to use evidence of Defendant's voluntary intoxication at the time of the offense was not ineffective assistance of counsel where Defendant continually and consistently maintained his innocence, and professions of innocence short-circuited any credible voluntary intoxication defense during the guilt phase." Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 485 (Fla. 1998); See also Engle v. <u>Dugger</u>, 576 So. 2d 696, 700 (Fla. 1991). Therefore, Defendant has failed to meet the first prong of Strickland in that Defendant has failed to prove counsel acted deficiently in failing to investigate, develop, and present available evidence in support of a voluntary intoxication defense during the guilt phase of Defendant's trial. Since Defendant has failed to meet the first prong of Strickland, it is unnecessary to address the prejudice component. As such, no relief is warranted upon this portion of claim IV. (PCR6/1100-1101) (e.s.)

In this case, Hannon, like the defendant in Rivera,

continually and consistently maintained his innocence at trial. Consequently, although the defense of voluntary intoxication was available at the time of Hannon's trial, since this defense is, in effect, an admission that the defendant "did the crime but lacked the specific intent to be held criminally responsible," Hannon's claim is just like Rivera's, and his "unwavering professions of innocence short-circuited any credible voluntary intoxication defense during the guilt phase." Rivera, 717 So. 2d at 485. Hannon's initial allegations of ineffective assistance during the guilt phase were appropriate for summary denial because they were legally and facially insufficient to warrant relief under Strickland, inasmuch as Hannon did not assert both an alleged deficiency and how he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to raise a defense which was inconsistent with his claim of actual innocence/alibi.

Furthermore, as a practical matter, Hannon had the benefit of vigorously pursuing a claim of actual innocence/alibi while the jury was simultaneously informed of his alcohol consumption. In other words, the jurors learned of Hannon's drinking, but the alibi/innocence defense was not forfeited. At trial, Hannon testified that he was at Ron Richardson's on January 10, 1991, about 10:00 p.m., playing Quarters, a drinking game, with Ron Richardson and his brother, Mike, and that he was pretty drunk

and he stayed overnight to avoid driving his car, because the lights weren't working properly. (R1366, 1368-1369). and Jim Acker had been to Carter's apartment a few weeks earlier, around Christmas, to deliver some pork and to drink beer. (R1372-1373). Hannon testified that it was January 9th, not January 10th, that Robin and Kamla had been at Richardson's and they were all drinking beer, but he did not stay late because he had to work the next day. (R1379-1380). Hannon described an "incentive plan" with his boss, who was also his landlord, of earning an extra 50 cents an hour for not drinking during the week, because his boss thought people with a hangover had a bad attitude. (R1380). Hannon thought he'd stopped by Richardson's on Thursday, January 10th, to tell him of the keg party planned for the next night at Maureen's house. (R1380). After getting paid on Friday, Hannon picked up the keg and went to his sister Maureen's, and ended up spending the night because he got very drunk that night. (R1382).

As the trial court correctly concluded, defense counsel is not ineffective for failing to pursue a defense which is inconsistent with defendant's defense that he is innocent. Rivera; Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, in order to successfully assert the defense of voluntary intoxication, "the defendant must come forward with

evidence of intoxication at the time of the offense sufficient to establish that he was unable to form the intent necessary to commit the crime charged." Rivera, 717 So. 2d at 485 n. 12, quoting Linehan v. State, 476 So. 2d 1262, 1264 (Fla. 1985). Where, as here, the State had evidence of Hannon's ability to form the requisite intent, trial counsel's decision not to present an intoxication defense is evident on the record as within the range of reasonably competent counsel. See, White v. State, 729 So. 2d 909, 912 (Fla. 1999).

In this case, evidence of Hannon's ability to form the requisite intent on the night of January 10, 1991, was presented via several witnesses. Robin Eckert testified that the three men, Richardson, Acker and Hannon, were talking in the kitchen just before the three left, as though they did not want to be overheard by Robin, Kamla and Mike Richardson. (R802, 804-805). Ronald Richardson testified that Hannon obtained Richardson's gun before they left, and Hannon placed the loaded gun in the waistband of his pants and covered it with his T-shirt. (R1176-1178). After arriving at the victims' apartment, they walked about one-and-one-half blocks to the victims' apartment, where Hannon knocked on the door as Acker stood "off to the side." (R1179-1180). After Acker stabbed Brandon Snider repeatedly, Hannon went over to Snider, put his arm around his neck, and

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